
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY

AT LOUISVILLE

--------------------------------------------------------------X
Casey William Hyland, Graham Pullen, :
Christopher Burnette and Mystic Burnette, :

:            FOURTH AMENDED 
Plaintiffs, : CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

:
v. :

: Civil Action#: 3:05-CV-612-R
HomeServices of America, Inc., HomeServices of :
Kentucky, Inc., Semonin Realtors, Rector :
Hayden Realtors, RE/MAX International, Inc., :
RE/MAX Connections, Properties East, Inc., :
d/b/a RE/MAX Properties East, Century :
21 Real Estate LLC (f/k/a Century 21 Real :
Estate Corporation), Cendant Corporation, :
Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation, :
Coldwell Banker McMahan, Alliance :
Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX :
Alliance, Suzy N. Watkins, d/b/a :
RE/MAX Alliance, Realtors 2000, Inc.,  and :
RE/MAX of Kentucky/Tennessee, Inc., :

:
Defendants. : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

--------------------------------------------------------------X

Plaintiffs bring this antitrust action on behalf of a class of persons or entities who

purchased or sold real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky from January 1, 1991, to the

present.  Plaintiffs= claims as to themselves and their own actions are based upon their

knowledge.  All other allegations are based upon information and belief pursuant to the

investigation of counsel.  As and for their Fourth Amended Class Action Complaint, Plaintiffs

allege as follows:

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1.  Defendants combined, conspired and agreed to fix, maintain and inflate real estate

broker commissions and associated fees and refuse to compete on the basis of price in
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transactions in real estate located within the Commonwealth of Kentucky (“Kentucky Real

Estate”).

2.  The price of real estate has increased dramatically, and (due, inter alia, to the Internet)

the costs of providing real estate broker fees have declined during the Class Period.

3.  Yet, certain Defendants, individually and collectively, have charged a real estate

broker commission of 6%, have described this 6% fee as the “standard” or “typical” fee, and

have habitually refused to negotiate a lower fee.  Certain Defendants have stated that they would

not negotiate a lower fee unless another broker was willing to do so.

4.  In such circumstances, in a competitive market free of Defendants’ unlawful

combination, conspiracy, or agreement, a standard or typical commission of 6% would not exist

for real estate brokers’ similar, virtually standardized services.  Moreover, Defendants would not

predicate their willingness to negotiate a reduction of the commission on the conduct or pricing

decision of another broker.

5.  However, certain Defendants are and have been the leading real estate brokers in

Kentucky during the Class Period with an aggregate market share in excess of 70% and, in

certain areas of the state, in excess of 90%.

6.  In addition to their limited number and market power, Defendants frequently (a) work

with one another in order to complete a transaction, (b) are expressly aware of the fee charged by

one another, (c) provide a very similar (virtually standardized) service, and (d) frequently

aggregate their services to provide multiple listings of real estate. 

7.  Thus, according to a statement made by a real estate broker employee to the Kentucky

Real State Commission (hereinafter “KREC”): ACommissions and sales awards are common in

other industries.  The bigger wrong being committed by agents and brokers is the informal
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unspoken price fixing that occurs.@ (Emphasis supplied.)

8.  In addition to the Defendants’ frequent contact with one another, their knowledge of

what one another charges, and the foregoing statement about informal price fixing, another

aspect of Defendants’ unlawful agreement is reflected in an anti-rebate rule (“Rebate Ban”)

which was in effect between 1991 and 2005.  See, Stipulation and Order, United States of

America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-CV-00188-S.

9.  This KREC rule insured that Defendants did not cheat on their price-fixing agreement

by providing a rebate or other discount off of the stated fee.

10.  The rule did so by preventing rebates or other reductions in the originally negotiated

fee regardless of how easy, quick or costless the real estate transaction proved to be for the

broker.

11.  Notwithstanding various brokers’ statements to KREC about price-fixing, the KREC

continued the Rebate Ban until 2005.  Defendants have had substantial influence over the KREC

due to the fact that four of the five commissioners on the Commission must be practicing real

estate brokers.  The real estate broker Defendants used this influence to keep the Rebate Ban in

effect during the Class Period.

12.  However, because the Rebate Ban facilitated price fixing, the Department of Justice

(hereinafter “DOJ”) commenced suit and voided the same.  Id.  Only after, and in order to settle,

the serious charges by the Department of Justice did the KREC finally void the anti-rebate rule. 

Id. 

13.  As a direct result of Defendants’ aforesaid combination, conspiracy and agreement,

Plaintiffs and Class members have paid an inflated commission that was higher than they would

have paid to transact in Kentucky real estate in the absence of Defendants’ unlawful agreement.
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14.  Therefore, Plaintiffs and the members of the Class were damaged in their property,

including by the difference between what they would have paid in a competitive market for

Defendants’ services and what they did pay due to such unlawful agreement.  Given the long-

term nature of Defendants’ violation, the structure of the industry, and the likelihood of

continued violation, equitable relief enjoining further violative conduct is appropriate and

necessary. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  The Plaintiffs and the Class members bring this suit pursuant to Section 4 of the

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15, to recover treble damages and costs of suit, including reasonable

attorney’s fees, sustained by reason of Defendants’ violations of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1.

16.  The Plaintiffs and the Class members also bring this suit pursuant to '26 of the

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. '26, to preclude certain Defendants= continuing violation of '1 of the

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. '1.

17.  Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

''1331 and 1337, and by §4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. '15. 

18.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. '22, and 28

U.S.C. '1391.  Defendants transact business, maintain offices, or are found within this state. 

The commerce described hereinafter is carried on, in part, within this District.

III. INTERSTATE TRADE AND COMMERCE

19.  Upon information and belief, the unlawful acts alleged herein were in the flow of and

substantially affected interstate trade and commerce.

20.  Billions of dollars worth of real property is exchanged each year in the

Commonwealth of Kentucky with the assistance of real estate brokers who are governed by the
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KREC and work for certain named Defendants herein.  Real estate brokers assist in-state and

out-of state clients to buy, sell, lease, or manage real property in the Commonwealth  of

Kentucky.  Interstate mortgage financing is affected by this exchange of property.

IV. PARTIES

21.  Plaintiff Casey William Hyland is a resident of Louisville, Kentucky.  During the

Class Period, Plaintiff purchased real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a

supra-competitive 6% broker commission to Defendant Semonin-Realtors.  By Order of this

Court dated December 1, 2006, Plaintiff Casey William Hyland’s claims were dismissed. 

Accordingly, this Complaint does not name Casey William Hyland as a plaintiff at this time. 

However, Casey William Hyland reserves his right to appeal such dismissal.

22.  Plaintiff Graham Pullen is a resident of Louisville, Kentucky.  During the Class

Period, Plaintiff purchased real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a supra-

competitive 6% broker commission to Defendants RE/MAX Connections and RE/MAX

Properties East.   By Order of this Court dated December 1, 2006, Plaintiff Graham Pullen’s

claims were dismissed.  Accordingly, this Complaint does not name Graham Pullen as a plaintiff

at this time.  However, Graham Pullen reserves his right to appeal such dismissal.

23.  Plaintiffs Christopher Burnette and Mystic Burnette (“Mr. and Mrs. Burnette”) are

residents of Savannah, Georgia.  During the Class Period, Mr. and Mrs. Burnette sold real estate

in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a supra-competitive 6% broker commission to

Defendant RE/MAX Alliance.

24.  Defendant HomeServices of America, Inc. (hereinafter AHomeServices of America@)

is incorporated in the state of Delaware and its principal place of business is 6800 France

Avenue South, Suite 710, Edina, Minnesota 55435.  HomeServices of America is the second
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largest real estate company and the premier family of real estate sales associates and brokerages

in the nation. 

25.  Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky, Inc. (AHomeServices of Kentucky@) is

incorporated in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its principal place of business is 4967 US

Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  HomeServices of Kentucky is a

HomeServices of America company.

26.  Defendant Semonin Realtors (ASemonin@) is an assumed Kentucky corporate name

for Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky.  Semonin=s principal place of business is 4967 US

Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  Semonin was a leading real estate broker

in the Commonwealth of Kentucky during the Class Period, and currently controls

approximately 20% of the real estate market in Kentucky.

27.  Defendant Rector-Hayden Realtors (ARector-Hayden@) is an assumed Kentucky

corporate name for Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky.  Rector-Hayden=s principal place of

business is 4967 US Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  During the Class

Period, Rector-Hayden was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of

Kentucky, controlled approximately 50% of the real estate market in central Kentucky since at

least 2003, and currently controls approximately 90% of the market in Lexington, Kentucky.

28.  Defendant Century 21 Real Estate LLC (f/k/a Century 21 Real Estate Corporation)

(ACentury 21") is a subsidiary of Defendant Cendant Corporation.  Century 21's principal place

of business is World Headquarters, 1 Campus Drive, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054.  During the

Class Period, Century 21 was one of the leading franchisors of real estate brokerage services in

the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

      29.  Defendant Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”) is a Delaware corporation with
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its principal place of business at 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.  Cendant is the

parent company of Defendants Century 21, NRT Inc., and Coldwell Banker Real Estate

Corporation. 

30.  (a) Defendant RE/MAX International, Inc. (ARE/MAX@) is incorporated in the State

of Colorado and its primary place of business is 5075 S. Syracuse Street, Denver, CO 802237. 

During the Class Period, RE/MAX was one of the leading franchisors of real estate brokerage

services, including a system for brokerage management services, in the Commonwealth of

Kentucky and held itself out as having thousands of associates and real estate offices worldwide,

including in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.  RE/MAX advertises with slogans including

“Nobody in the World Sells More Real Estate Than RE/MAX.”

(b)  During the relevant time period, defendant RE/MAX had regional and/or other

agreements with subfranchisors or Regional Directors which allowed them “to be associated

with RE/MAX International” in “the operation of real estate brokerage offices.”  These

agreements regulated the number of RE/MAX franchises permissible in a given area and allowed

Directors to utilize and franchise the RE/MAX name and system for the operations of RE/MAX

brokerage offices, including in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

(c)  During the relevant period, defendant RE/MAX, as franchisor, contracted with

defendant RE/MAX of Kentucky/Tennessee, Inc. (“RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee”), as

subfranchisor and Regional Director, to provide RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee with the

exclusive right to offer RE/MAX franchises in Kentucky and Tennessee.  RE/MAX maintains

control over RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee by, among other things, maintaining the right to

permit regular inspection at reasonable times of all of RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee’s books

and records, procedures, and services on a regular basis, by  requiring that RE/MAX
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Kentucky/Tennessee attend quarterly RE/MAX meetings and visit RE/MAX headquarters at

least twice a year, and by requiring certain business practices, such as setting up an office and

spending a set amount on advertising. RE/MAX further exercises control over its subfranchisor

and franchisees by providing them with operating manuals and sales materials and strategies, by

exercising control over training of real estate agents and advertising by RE/MAX

Kentucky/Tennessee and the Kentucky RE/MAX franchisees. 

(d) RE/MAX receives annual and monthly revenues from its brokerage

offices/franchisees in the Commonwealth of Kentucky through payments made by its Kentucky

Regional Director.

(e)   RE/MAX, through its subfranchisor RE/MAX of Kentucky/Tennessee, Inc., and its

franchisees,  currently control approximately 25% of the real estate market in Louisville,

Kentucky. 

31.  Defendant RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee is incorporated in the State of Georgia,

with its primary place of business at 2050 Marconi Drive, Suite 160, Alpharetta, Georgia 30005.

As stated above, during the relevant period, RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee has been the

Regional Director and subfranchisor of RE/MAX, allocating RE/MAX franchises to certain

defendants herein and other brokerage offices  in Kentucky.

      32.  Defendant RE/MAX Connections is located at 118 Bauer Avenue, Louisville, 

Kentucky 40207, and is a KREC brokerage firm comprised of licensed real estate brokers and

sales people.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX Connections was one of the dominant real

estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

            33.  Defendant Properties East, Inc., d/b/a RE/MAX Properties East is located at 10525

Timberwood Circle, Suite 100, Louisville, Kentucky 40223, and is a KREC brokerage firm

Case 3:05-cv-00612-TBR   Document 261    Filed 03/03/08   Page 8 of 68



9

comprised of licensed real estate brokers and salespeople.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX

Properties East was one of the dominant real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

     34.  Defendant Alliance Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance is a limited

liability company organized under the laws of the state of Colorado with a principal place of

business located at 5440 Ward Road, #230, Arvada, Colorado 80002.  Defendant Suzy N.

Watkins, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance, is the owner of RE/MAX Alliance of Kentucky, which

maintains three offices in Louisville, Kentucky at 10302 Brookridge Village Blvd, Ste 103,

Louisville, Kentucky, 980 Chambers Blvd., Bardstown, Kentucky 40004 and 833 Valley College

Dr. #13, Louisville, Kentucky 40272.  Defendant Realtors 2000, Inc., d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance,

is a Kentucky corporation with a principal place of business at 1167 Peaceful Way,

Shepherdsville, Kentucky 40165.  On August 6, 2007, Realtors 2000, Inc. registered RE/MAX

Alliance as an Assumed Name.  Alliance Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance,

Realtors 2000, Inc., d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance, and/or Suzy N. Watkins, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance

(collectively “RE/MAX Alliance”) are franchisees of defendant RE/MAX International, Inc.

and/or defendant RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX Alliance

was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and is a KREC

brokerage firm comprised of licensed real estate brokers and salespeople.  

35.  Defendant Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation (AColdwell Banker@) is

incorporated in the State of California.  Coldwell Banker’s primary place of business is 1

Campus Drive, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054.  During the Class Period, Coldwell Banker was

one of the leading franchisors of real estate brokerage services in the Commonwealth of

Kentucky.

36.  Defendant NRT, Inc. (“NRT”) is the largest residential real estate brokerage 

Case 3:05-cv-00612-TBR   Document 261    Filed 03/03/08   Page 9 of 68



10

company in the nation and is incorporated in Delaware.  NRT is headquartered at 339 Jefferson

Road, P.O. Box 259, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054-0259.  NRT owns and operates companies

in more than 35 of the nation’s largest metropolitan markets, with nearly 1,000 offices, more

than 8,000 employees and 59,000 sales associates.  NRT posted a real estate industry record

$200 billion in closed sales volume in 2004.  NRT does business under the “COLDWELL

BANKER®” brand name, among others.  By Order of this Court dated June 28, 2007, NRT was

dismissed from this action for lack of personal jurisdiction.  Therefore, plaintiffs do not name

NRT as a defendant at this time.  However, plaintiffs reserve the right to appeal such dismissal.

37.  Defendant Coldwell Banker McMahan Company (AColdwell Banker McMahan@) is

as assumed Kentucky corporate name for Coldwell Banker and its primary place of business is

6402 Railroad Avenue, Box 306, Crestwood, Kentucky 40014.  Coldwell Banker McMahan is a

franchisee of Defendant Coldwell Banker.  During the Class Period, Coldwell Banker McMahan

was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

 V. CO-CONSPIRATORS

38.  Various individuals, partnerships, corporations, and associations, including other real

estate brokerage firms in Kentucky who are governed by the KREC, not named as Defendants in

this Complaint, have participated as co-conspirators in the violations alleged herein and have

performed acts and made statements in furtherance thereof.

VI. VIOLATIONS ALLEGED

39.  A real estate broker commission is the predominant form of payment for real estate

brokerage services.  These services are virtually identical.  The commission is typically derived

by taking a certain percentage of the price paid for the property.

40.  On the one hand, the prices of real property in Kentucky have increased
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dramatically.  For example, according to National Association of Realtors® (“NAR”), the real

increase of housing prices in Louisville, Kentucky during the Class Period was 72.34% above

the rate of inflation.  On the other hand, certain costs of real estate brokers in publicly displaying

their listings have decreased dramatically. 

41.  In a competitive marketplace, the seller and his or her broker negotiate at arms-

length the broker=s commission that will be paid to the seller=s broker, and to the buyer=s broker. 

For example, if the commission is 4%, then the buyer=s broker will take 2%, and the seller=s

broker will take 2%.  If the seller=s broker also finds the buyer, then that broker also keeps the

full commission.  However, in many cases, a second broker represents the buyer.

42.  Normally, businesses compete with one another both in terms of the prices they

charge and the services they perform.  In some markets, real estate brokers have permitted

consumers to choose their own commission.  In a competitive marketplace, such commissions

may be a flat fee or 2.5% of the transaction or lower, and will decline, as a percentage of the

transaction price, in the circumstances here.

43.  However, because of Defendants’ unlawful agreement alleged herein, competition on

the basis of commission rates has not occurred and Plaintiffs and class members have paid

inflated rates to Defendants.  

44.  Plaintiff Pullen asked his broker, a RE/MAX agent with RE/MAX East, whether the

commission that he would need to pay could be reduced.

45.  Plaintiff Pullen’s broker told him that she would ask the seller’s broker, another

RE/MAX agent with RE/MAX Connections, whether the commission could be negotiated or

lowered.

46.  Afterwards, Mr. Pullen’s broker told him that the seller’s broker refused to lower or
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negotiate his commission.

47.  Mr. Pullen’s broker then told Mr. Pullen that she was unwilling to negotiate or lower

his share of the total commission because of the seller’s broker’s refusal to negotiate.

48.  After Mr. Pullen’s broker informed Mr. Pullen that she was not willing to negotiate

her commission,  Mr. Pullen  was charged an industry standard 6% commission.

49.  Plaintiff Hyland’s real estate broker asked him to pay, and he paid, a 6%

commission, which was agreed upon by Mr. Hyland’s broker and the seller’s broker.

50.  Plaintiffs Mr. and Mrs. Burnette were told by their broker, a Sales Associate with

defendant RE/MAX Alliance, that they were required to pay a 6% commission in connection

with the sale of their home in the Commonwealth of Kentucky as this was the industry practice.  

51.  Plaintiffs Mr. and Mrs. Burnette’s broker asked them to pay, and they did pay, a 6%

commission, which was split by their broker and the seller's broker.

52.  Plaintiffs’ investigation indicates that other people have tried to negotiate a lower

commission than 6%, but have been unsuccessful.  To the extent that any negotiation did occur

during the Class Period, the negotiations began with the supra-competitive industry standard 6%

commission as a bench mark and produced a fee that was inflated.

53.  KREC is the sole licensing authority for brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

It is unlawful for a person to provide, or offer to provide, real estate brokerage services in

Kentucky unless he or she holds a current license issued by the KREC.

54.  Therefore, all licensed real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky,

including those employed by the Defendants named herein, must abide by rules and edicts

promulgated by the KREC. 

55.  Five Commissioners comprise the KREC.  By statute, four of the five
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Commissioners must be active brokers before and during their term on the KREC.  These are

otherwise known as the “Broker-Commissioners.@

56.  When there is a Broker-Commissioner vacancy, the Kentucky Association of

Realtors® (the “KAR”), a private industry trade group of brokers who are members of the NAR,

selects a list of not less than three nominees from which the Governor of Kentucky must appoint

the new Commissioner.  The Governor may reappoint a particular Broker-Commissioner only if

the KAR chooses to resubmit the Broker-Commissioner’s name on its new list of nominees.

57.  Since 1999, Mr. Arvel McMahan, the principal broker of Defendant Coldwell

Banker McMahan Company, has been a Commissioner on the KREC.

58.  The KREC works closely with the KAR in determining which rules to promulgate. 

When the KREC has considered changing its regulations, it has formed a joint task force

consisting of KREC and KAR representatives.  These joint task forces have prepared draft

regulatory text for the KREC’s consideration.

59.  Kentucky law authorized the KREC to take disciplinary action against any broker

who violates Kentucky real estate statutes or any of the KREC’s regulations, including the

Rebate Ban. However, the Kentucky legislature expressly forbade the KREC from

“promulgat[ing] any regulation which in any way fixes prices, establishes fees, or sets the rate at

which [brokers] are compensated.@  Ky. Rev. Stat. '324.282.

60.  Nonetheless, the KREC passed the Rebate Ban in 1991.  This administrative

regulation prohibited all licensed brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky from offering to

the general public any item or thing of value, including rebates that reduce fees,  to induce

clients to retain their services.  See 201 Ky. Admin. Reg. 11:011, Section 1(5); 201  Ky.Admin.

Reg.11:121, Section 1(2).)
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61.  Specifically, the KREC forbade a broker At[o] offer, either through advertising, direct

contact or by others, to the general public, any prize, money, free gift, rebate, or any thing  of

value as an inducement.@  201 Ky. Admin. Reg. 11:121, Section 1(2).

62.  In the absence of the Rebate Ban, rebates may have happened, price competition may

have taken hold, and it would have been more difficult for Defendants to maintain their

combination, conspiracy and agreement.

63.  Even though the Rebate Ban enabled and facilitated price fixing, the KREC rejected

proposals to eliminate the rule in 2004.

64.  Due to the obvious anti-competitive nature of the Rebate Ban, on or about March 30,

2005, the DOJ filed a complaint in this Court against the KREC.

65.  The DOJ complaint alleged that the KREC=s Rebate Ban was a per se violation of '1

of  the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. '1, because, among other  things,  it Aenabled Brokers to raise,

fix, peg, or stabilize the prices and rates at which Brokers are compensated.@ See Complaint,

United States of America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-CV-188-

H, p. 2, ¶4, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.

66.  On or about July 14, 2005, instead of answering the DOJ=s complaint, the KREC

settled the litigation with the DOJ.

67.  Accordingly, on or about August 4, 2005, this Court signed and approved a

Stipulation and Order submitted by the settling parties which required the KREC to no longer

enforce the Rebate Ban against its licensees, and for the ban to be abolished.  See Stipulation and

Order, United States of America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-

CV-00185-S; see also Amended Final Judgment, United States of America v. Kentucky Real

Estate Commission, 3:05-CV-188-S.
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68.  The Defendants – mutually, jointly and individually – have taken parallel or 

similar steps to develop, maintain, encourage and enforce the following.  There has been a

consensual culture and convention among Kentucky real estate brokers to avoid, reduce or

eliminate competition on the basis of prices they charge for their services, i.e., the real estate

broker’s fee.

69.  Attached as Exhibits “B” and “C” hereto are the Complaint and Amended 

Complaint that were filed by the DOJ against the NAR in the United States District Court for the

Northern District of Illinois in a case captioned as United States of America v. National

Association of Realtors.

70.  The DOJ Antitrust Division has also opposed various measures that NAR has 

lobbied for in various states.  These measures were also designed to avoid, reduce, or eliminate

competition on the basis of price, i.e., the real estate broker’s fee.  Such measures include the

prohibition of a-la-carte real estate services in various states, including Alabama, Oklahoma, and

Texas.  A-la-carte real estate services reduce real estate brokerage fees paid by consumers

because they allow the consumer to do some of the work that would otherwise be done by the

real estate broker.

71.  The NAR is a trade association organized under the laws of Illinois with its 

principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois.  NAR establishes and enforces policies and

professional standards for its over one million individual member brokers and their affiliated

agents and sales associates, which are otherwise known as “Realtors®”, and 1,600 local and

state member boards.  The NAR pays more lobbying fees than any other organization in the

United States.

72.  The NAR promotes and organizes state and local organizations of real 
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estate brokers.  The Defendants and the NAR helped organize various boards in the

Commonwealth, including Greater Louisville Board of Realtors® and the Lexington-Bluegrass

Board of Realtors®.

73.  The NAR and various Defendants also organized at least  28 local Multiple 

Listing Services (“MLS”) in Kentucky.  See http://ired.com/boards/ky.htm.

74.  Defendants Rector-Hayden, Semonin, RE/MAX East, RE/MAX Connections, 

RE/MAX Alliance, Coldwell Banker McMahan, and various unnamed franchisees of franchisor

and subfranchisor defendants are dues-paying members of the NAR.

75.  Defendants Rector-Hayden, Semonin, RE/MAX East, RE/MAX Connections, 

RE/MAX Alliance, Coldwell Banker McMahan, and various unnamed franchisees of franchisor

and subfranchisor defendants are also dues-paying members of the KAR.  

76.  Defendant RE/MAX obligates its subfranchisors, including defendant RE/MAX

Kentucky/Tennessee, to join and remain a member of KAR and NAR.

77.  These Defendants are also dues-paying members of various MLSs in Kentucky. 

78.  Through the NAR, the KAR, their work together in Kentcuky MLS groups, 

and through other joint and individual steps, Defendants have paid for and taken steps explicitly

intended to avoid, reduce or eliminate competition on the basis of the price they charge, i.e., the

real estate broker’s commission.  See Exhibits A - C attached hereto.

79.  Several Defendants are influential members of the NAR and the KAR, 

including Defendant Coldwell Banker McMahan.

80.   As the DOJ has filed complaints against NAR and KREC, and taken other steps

to thwart the culture and pricing conduct promoted by Defendants, various Defendants have

made public statements indicating that real estate brokers must avoid, reduce, or eliminate price
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competition.  

81.   These statements include the following.  On February 28, 2003, in a widely 

circulated white paper, Mr. Mark Panus, Vice President of Communications and Public Affairs

for the Cendant Real Estate Services Division, asserted that is was not “feasible” for even the

largest traditional brokers to compete with large Internet-based real estate brokerage companies. 

Mr. Panus also explained in the white paper that Internet-based real estate brokerage companies

have the potential to undermine the profitability of real estate brokerage firms.  

82.  Mr. Dave Liniger, chairman of the board of Defendant RE/MAX, has also 

publicly expressed his concern that Internet-based brokerage firms would inevitably place

downward pressure on brokers’ commission rates.  

83.  Consistent with the foregoing culture and statements, various Defendants have 

enforced their price fixing agreement by boycotting price-cutting rivals, such as Help-U-Sell. 

Help-U-Sell is a non-Internet based discount brokerage firm that recently began operating in

Kentucky. It is being boycotted because it charges its customers a reduced fixed fee, rather than

the standard percentage commission.

84.  Further maintaining the consensual convention and culture among Kentucky 

real estate brokers to avoid competition on the basis of price, has been the following.  Certain

Defendants have systematically and intentionally engaged in conduct to increase the

concentration and standardization of Kentucky real estate brokers through franchising.

85.  Conspicuously, each franchisor and subfranchisor Defendant has followed parallel 

conduct of not advertising in Kentucky that it offers discount fees and commissions that are

lower than its competitors.

86.  Another type of parallel conduct in which each of the franchisor and subfranchisor 
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Defendants has engaged is the following.  Each franchisor and subfranchisor Defendant has been

careful to eliminate terms from their franchise agreements that expressly incentivize or

encourage the franchisee to charge lower fees than their competitors.

87.  On the contrary, some Defendants have made agreements with or inducements to 

numerous real estate brokers in Kentucky that incentivize and suggest the following.  Even if

such brokers do not themselves set the fee, such brokers should nonetheless insure that the

standard (“regularly charged”) fee is charged to the consumer.  For example, the franchise

agreement between Coldwell Banker and Coldwell Banker McMahan provides that Coldwell

Banker McMahan’s “regularly charged brokerage commission or fee shall be imputed with

respect to transactions involving any of your Affiliate(s) acting as a principal for purposes of

computing the Royalty Fee payable to use in connection with such transactions.”  (Emphasis

added.)  An “[a]ffiliate acting as a principal” is a real estate broker who effectuates a real estate

transaction on his own behalf.  

88.  The franchisor and subfranchisor Defendants profit off higher commissions in at

least three respects.  First, higher commissions translate into higher revenues for franchisors and

subfranchisors, who receive a fixed portion of their agents’ or other contracting parties’

commissions.  Second, higher commissions attract more real estate brokers and sales associates,

which, in turn, translates into more fees for the franchisor and subfranchisor.  Finally, when the

franchisees’ sales associates charge higher commissions, the franchisor and/or subfranchisor

may be able to ask for higher fees from its franchisees. 

89.  As an illustration, RE/MAX, pursuant to its Regional Agreement entered into with

its subfranchisor, defendant RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee, is to receive 30% of the monthly fee

due to RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee from its franchisees.  The monthly fee due to RE/MAX
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Kentucky/Tennessee is determined pursuant to the terms of the Franchise Agreement entered

into between RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee as subfranchisor of RE/MAX and its franchisee. 

Pursuant to the RE/MAX Franchise Agreement, the RE/MAX franchisee is to charge each Sales

Associate a broker service fee based on the amount of their monthly gross commissions (with a

5% recommended fee).  The RE/MAX Franchise Agreement further provides that the RE/MAX

franchisee pay a monthly fee to the subfranchisor, which consists of 20% of the amount

produced when broker service fee is applied to all gross commissions earned by each Sales

Associate employed by the franchisee on a monthly basis.  Each of the franchisor and

subfranchisor Defendants were, therefore, beneficiaries of the revenue stream arising from the

combined efforts of all Defendants and un-named co-conspirators to fix prices and avoid price

competition as alleged herein. Each of the franchisor and subfranchisor defendants executed

control over their franchisee to enforce the contract, combination and conspiracy alleged herein.

90.  Also, because the respective trademarks franchised by Defendants Century 21, 

Coldwell Banker, and RE/MAX (via RE/MAX Kentucky/Tennessee) to their franchisees are

registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, these Defendants are mandated

by the Langham Act to control “the nature and quality of the goods or services” offered by

their franchisees in connection with the mark.  15 U.S.C. §1127 (emphasis added).  Absent such

control of their franchisees, the franchisor Defendants risk losing their trademark rights due to,

among other things, dilution or abandonment.  See 15 U.S.C. §1127.  The franchisor defendants

conditioned and controlled the culture of their subfranchisors and franchisees.

91.  Fees of stock brokers, market-makers, travel agents, and transaction 

facilitators in other U.S. industries have declined dramatically since 1991.  Because Defendants

have expressly or tacitly agreed to fix and maintain fees in Kentucky and avoid competing with
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one another on the basis of fees in Kentucky, real estate commissions in Kentucky have

increased since 1991.  This would not have occurred in a competitive market free of collusion.

92.  Kentucky licenses its brokers who operate under the purview of the KREC.  

The relevant product and geographic market is the market for real estate brokerage commissions

in Kentucky. 

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

93.  Plaintiffs, identified in paragraphs 21 to 23  herein, bring this action on behalf of

themselves and as a class action under Rules 23(a), (b)(2), and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure on behalf of all members of the following class of plaintiffs:

All persons or entities (excluding governmental entities, Defendants, their
parents, subsidiaries and affiliates) who purchased or sold real estate in the
Commonwealth of Kentucky (referred to herein as the “Class”) from January 1,
1991, to the present (referred to herein as the AClass Period@).1

94.  This action is properly maintainable as a class action. The members of the Class are

so numerous and geographically dispersed that joinder of all Class members is impracticable. 

On information and belief, there are in excess of 25,000 members of the Class and they reside in

various places throughout Kentucky and elsewhere.

95.  Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class exist, and

predominate over questions, if any, that may affect only individual members, because

Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class.  The questions of law

and fact common to the Class include, but are not limited to:

Case 3:05-cv-00612-TBR   Document 261    Filed 03/03/08   Page 20 of 68



21

(a) Whether the Defendants engaged in a contract, combination, or conspiracy to fix

the price of real estate broker commissions in the Commonwealth of Kentucky during the Class

Period;

(b) Whether Defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act;

(c) The duration, scope, extent and effect of the conspiracy alleged herein;

(d) Whether Defendants and each of them was a participant in the contract,

combination, or conspiracy alleged herein; and

(e) The effect upon and extent of injuries sustained by Plaintiffs and members of the

Class and the appropriate type and/or measure of damages and other relief requested herein.

96.  The Plaintiffs purchased in the affected market and their claims are typical of the

claims of all Class members.

97.  The Plaintiffs will adequately represent the interests of the Class, and their interests

are coincident with and not antagonistic to the members of the Class.  

98.  The Plaintiffs have retained competent counsel who are experienced in complex

antitrust and other class actions, and they are committed to prosecute this action vigorously.

99.  Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class.  Prosecution of

separate actions by individual members of the Class would create the risk of inconsistent or

varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class which would establish

incompatible standards of conduct for the Defendants.

100.  There are no difficulties likely to be encountered in the management of this class

action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action, and no superior alternative exists for

the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.  Real estate transactions usually are

publicly recorded and identification and notification of class members may be facilitated by
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public records as well as Defendants’ own records. 

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I

PER SE VIOLATION OF SECTION ONE OF THE SHERMAN ACT

101.  As more fully set forth above, Defendants combined, conspired and agreed to fix,

maintain and inflate real estate broker commissions and associated fees and refuse to compete on

the basis of the amount of their fee on transactions in Kentucky real estate.  This is a per se

violation of '1 of the Sherman Act.

102.  Because of the Defendants= combination, conspiracy, or agreement, Plaintiffs and

the members of the Class have paid supra-competitive real estate broker fees during the Class

Period, and have been damaged in their property thereby.  Unless enjoined, Defendants’ contract,

combination and conspiracy will continue.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Class respectfully request:

A. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree this action to be a proper class action

pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;

B. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants have committed the

violations alleged herein, including §1 of the Sherman Act and be enjoined and restrained from

continuing the same;

C.  That this Court declare that the Plaintiffs and the members of the Class 

suffered damages as a proximate result thereof;

D. That this Court enter judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs and the Class, 

jointly and severally, including for the treble damages of each Plaintiff and Class member
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(including recovery of the sums alleged herein) due to the violation of the Sherman Act; 

E. That Plaintiffs and the Class be awarded the cost of the suit, including 

reasonable attorney's fees, and interest; and

F. That Plaintiffs and the Class be granted injunctive relief against 

Defendants’ violative conduct and such other and further equitable or other relief as the Court

may deem just and proper.

Dated: Louisville, Kentucky
  November 21, 2007

BISHOP & ASSOCIATES, P.S.C.

By: /s/ Robert W. Bishop
Robert W. Bishop, Esq.
Jennifer McCarty, Esq.
6520 Glenridge Park Place, Suite 6
Louisville, Kentucky 40222
Telephone: (502) 425 - 2600 
Facsimile: (502) 425 - 9115

LOVELL STEWART HALEBIAN LLP

By: /s/ Christopher Lovell
Christopher Lovell, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Gary S. Jacobson, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Jody R. Krisiloff, Esq.
Imtiaz A. Siddiqui, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5800
New York, New York 10110
Telephone: (212) 608 - 1900
Facsimile: (212) 719 – 4677

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the putative Class
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

____________________________________
)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )
Department of Justice, Antitrust Division, )
325 7th Street, N.W., Suite 300 )
Washington, DC  20530, )

) Civil Action No. 05C-5140
Plaintiff, )

) Judge Filip
v. )

) Magistrate Judge Denlow
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF )
REALTORS ) Filed:  September 8, 2005
430 North Michigan Ave. )
Chicago, IL 60611, )

)
Defendant. )

____________________________________)

COMPLAINT

The United States of America, by its attorneys acting under the direction of the Attorney

General, brings this civil action pursuant to Section 4 of the Sherman Act, as amended, 15

U.S.C. § 4, to obtain equitable and other relief to prevent and restrain violations of Section 1 of

the Sherman Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 1.  The United States alleges:

1. The United States brings this action to enjoin the defendant – a national

association of real estate brokers – from maintaining or enforcing a policy that restrains

competition from brokers who use the Internet to more efficiently and cost effectively serve

home sellers and buyers, and from adopting other related anticompetitive rules.

2. The brokers against whom the policy discriminates operate secure, password-

protected Internet sites that enable the brokers’ customers to search for and receive real estate

listings over the Internet.  These websites thus replace or augment the traditional practice by
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which the broker conducts a search of properties for sale and then provides information to the

customer by hand, mail, fax, or e-mail.  Since these websites were first developed in the late

1990s, brokers’ use of the Internet in connection with their delivery of brokerage services has

become an important competitive alternative to traditional “brick-and-mortar” business models.

3. Defendant’s members include traditional brokers who are concerned about

competition from Internet-savvy brokers.  Before defendant adopted its policy, several of its

members voiced opposition to brokers’ delivery of listings to customers through their websites –

sites that defendant referred to as “virtual office websites,” or “VOWs.”  The head of the

working group created by defendant to develop regulations for VOWs argued that defendant

should act quickly in adopting regulations for the use of these websites because brokers

operating VOWs were “scooping up market share just below the radar.”  The chairman of the

board of RE/MAX, the nation’s second-largest real estate franchisor, publicly expressed his

concern that these Internet sites would inevitably place downward pressure on brokers’

commission rates.  One broker complained that because of the lower cost structure of brokers

who provide listings to their customers over the Internet, “they are able to kick-back 1% of the

sales price to the buyer.”  And Cendant, the nation’s largest real estate franchisor and owner of

the nation’s largest real estate brokerage, asserted in a widely circulated white paper that it was

“not feasible” for even the largest traditional brokers to compete with large Internet companies

that operated or affiliated with brokers operating VOWs.

4. In response to such concerns, defendant, through its members, adopted a policy

(the “VOW Policy”) limiting this new competition.  The VOW Policy significantly alters the

rules governing multiple listing services (“MLS”).  MLSs collect detailed information about
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nearly all properties for sale through brokers and are indispensable tools for brokers serving

buyers and sellers in each MLS’s market area.  Defendant’s local Realtor associations (“member

boards”) control a majority of the MLSs in the United States.

5. The VOW Policy permits brokers to selectively or generally withhold their

clients’ listings from VOW operators by means of an “opt-out” right.  In essence, the VOW

Policy allows traditional brokers to block the customers of targeted competitors from using the

Internet to review the same set of MLS listings that the traditional brokers provide to their

customers.

6. The working group that formulated the VOW Policy understood that the opt-out

right was fundamentally anticompetitive and harmful to consumers.  Two members of the

working group wrote that the opt-out right would be “abused beyond belief” as traditional

brokers selectively withhold listings from particular VOW-based competitors.  The chairman of

the working group admitted that the opt-out right was likely to be exercised by brokers

notwithstanding the fact that “it may not be in the seller[’]s best interest to opt out.”  But he took

comfort in the fact that the rule did not require brokers to disclose to clients that their listings

would be withheld from some prospective purchasers as a result of the brokers’ opt-out decision,

thus providing brokers “flexibility without conversation.”

7. The VOW Policy restricts the manner in which brokers with efficient, Internet-

based business models may provide listings to their customers, and imposes additional

restrictions on brokers operating VOWs that do not apply to their traditional competitors. 

Defendant thus denies brokers using new technologies and business models the same benefits of

MLS membership available to their competitor brokers, and it suppresses technological
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innovation, discourages competition on price and quality, and raises barriers to entry.  Defendant

– an association of competitors – has agreed to a policy that suppresses new competition and

harms consumers.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Complaint is filed under Section 4 of the Sherman Act, as amended, 15

U.S.C. § 4, to prevent and restrain violations by defendant of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15

U.S.C. § 1.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,

1337(a), and 1345.

9. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because defendant

maintains its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois, and is found here.

DEFENDANT

10. Defendant National Association of Realtors (“NAR”) is a trade association

organized under the laws of Illinois with its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois. 

NAR establishes and enforces policies and professional standards for its over one million

individual member brokers and their affiliated agents and sales associates (“Realtors”), and

1,600 local and state member boards.  NAR’s member brokers compete with one another in local

brokerage services markets to represent consumers in connection with real estate transactions.
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CONCERTED ACTION

11. Various others, not named as defendants, have contracted, combined, or conspired

with NAR in the violations alleged in this Complaint and have performed acts and made

statements in furtherance thereof.

TRADE AND COMMERCE

12. NAR’s policies govern the conduct of its members in all fifty states, including all

Realtors and all of NAR’s member boards.  NAR’s member boards control approximately eighty

percent of the approximately 1,000 MLSs in the United States.

13. NAR’s activities, and the violations alleged in this Complaint, affect home buyers

and sellers located throughout the United States. 

14. NAR, through its members, is engaged in interstate commerce and is engaged in

activity affecting interstate commerce.

RELEVANT MARKETS

15. The provision of real estate brokerage services to sellers of residential real

property and the provision of real estate brokerage services to buyers of residential real property

are relevant service markets.

16. The real estate brokerage business is local in nature.  Most sellers prefer to work

with a broker who is familiar with local market conditions and who maintains an office or

affiliated sales associates within a reasonable distance of the seller’s property.  Likewise, most

buyers seek to purchase property in a particular city, community, or neighborhood, and typically

prefer to work with a broker who has knowledge of the area in which they have an interest.  The

geographic coverage of the MLS serving each town, city, or metropolitan area normally
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establishes the outermost boundaries of each relevant geographic market, although meaningful

competition among brokers may occur in narrower local areas.

BACKGROUND OF THE OFFENSE

17. At any one time there are over 1.5 million homes for sale in the United States. 

Most home sellers and buyers engage residential real estate brokers to facilitate transactions.

18. The predominant form of payment for brokerage services is a “commission,” a

percentage of the price paid for the property.  In a typical transaction, the seller agrees to pay a

commission to the broker who has contracted with the seller to market the home (the “listing

broker”).  If the listing broker finds the buyer, the listing broker keeps the full commission. 

Frequently, however, a second broker (the “cooperating broker”) finds the buyer, and the two

brokers share the commission.

19. After a listing broker has established an agency relationship with a seller, the

broker typically submits detailed information regarding the seller’s property to a local NAR-

affiliated MLS.  Along with the information about the property it submits to the MLS, the listing

broker also typically includes an offer to split the commission with any cooperating broker.

Multiple Listing Services

20. MLSs are joint ventures among competing brokers to share their clients’ listings

and to cooperate in other ways.  MLSs list virtually all homes for sale through a broker in the

areas they serve.  In a substantial majority of markets, a single MLS provides the only available

comprehensive compilation of listings.  The MLS allows brokers representing sellers to

effectively market the sellers’ properties to all other broker participants in the MLS and their
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buyer customers.  Conversely, the MLS allows brokers to provide their buyer customers

information about all listed properties in which the customers might have an interest.

21. NAR promulgates rules governing the conduct of MLSs and requires its member

boards to adopt these rules.

22. The vast majority of brokers believe that they must participate in the MLS

operating in their local market in order to adequately serve their customers and compete with

other brokers.  As a result, few brokers would withdraw from MLS participation even if the fees

or other costs associated with that participation substantially increased.

23. By virtue of industry-wide participation and control over a critically important

input, MLS joint ventures have market power in almost every relevant market.

24.  The methods of making MLS information available to customers have changed

as technology has evolved.  From the 1920s, when MLSs first became prevalent, brokers allowed

customers to view a printed “MLS book.”  Later, the availability of copy machines allowed

brokers to reproduce pages from the MLS book and deliver the pages with responsive listings to

customers by hand or mail.  The advent of facsimile transmission – and, later, electronic mail –

further quickened the process of delivering MLS listings to customers.

Virtual Office Websites

25. With the development of the Internet as an information source for consumers,

potential home buyers began to seek Internet sources of information about homes for sale. 

Beginning in the late 1990s, a number of NAR member brokers began creating password-

protected websites that enabled potential home buyers, once they had registered as customers of

the broker and agreed to certain restrictions on their use of the data, to search the MLS database
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themselves and to obtain responsive MLS listings over the Internet.  These websites came to be

known as virtual office websites or VOWs.  NAR recognizes the Internet delivery of MLS

listings to customers to be an authorized method of providing brokerage services.

26. Brokers can use the Internet to operate more efficiently than they can by using

only traditional methods.  By transferring search functions from the broker to customers who

prefer such control over the process, VOW-operating brokers allow customers to educate

themselves at their own pace about the market in which they are considering a purchase.  By

doing so, brokers with successful password-protected websites are able to reduce or eliminate the

time and expense involved in identifying and providing relevant listings and otherwise educating

their customers.  These brokers also spend less time on home tours with their buyer customers,

as these buyers frequently tour fewer homes before making a purchase decision than typical

buyers.  With lower cost structures, brokers with Internet-intensive business models have offered

discounted commissions to sellers or commission rebates to buyers.

27. Other sources of listing information on the Internet are inferior to the password-

protected VOWs because they do not and cannot guarantee access to all information available in

the MLS.

28. Brokers can also use the Internet to support a “referral” business model.  Referral

services provide brokers information about potential buyers in return for a share of any

commission the broker receives if the “lead” results in a completed transaction.  Brokers are not

obliged to purchase leads from referral services and do so only when they choose to.  Some

traditional brokers refer customers to other brokers for a fee, and some VOW operators,

similarly, have referred (or have considered referring) some of their customers to other brokers
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for a fee.  Many brokers dislike the concept of paying for leads, and the prospect that Internet-

savvy brokers could support referral business models has been a source of industry antipathy to

VOWs.

NATURE OF THE OFFENSE

29. Brokers with innovative, Internet-based business models present a competitive

challenge to brokers who provide listings to their customers only by traditional methods.  Many

brick-and-mortar brokers fear the ability of VOW operators to use Internet technology to attract

more customers and provide better service at a lower cost.

30. In response to concerns raised by certain NAR members about this new form of

competition, NAR’s Board of Directors voted on May 17, 2003, to adopt the VOW Policy, a

“Policy governing use of MLS data in connection with Internet brokerage services offered by

MLS Participants (‘Virtual Office Websites’).”  NAR has mandated that all 1,600 of its member

boards implement the VOW Policy by January 1, 2006.  Approximately 200 member boards

have already implemented the VOW Policy and have received NAR’s approval of their

implementing rules.

31. Section I.3 of the VOW Policy contains an opt-out provision that forbids any

broker participating in an MLS from conveying a listing to his or her customers via the Internet

without the permission of the listing broker.  Specifically, the opt-out provision allows brokers to

direct that their clients’ listings not be displayed on any VOW (a “blanket opt-out”), or on a

particular competing broker’s VOW (a “selective opt-out”).

32. In contrast, prior to NAR’s adoption of the VOW Policy, a broker could provide

any relevant listing in the MLS database to any customer – by whatever method the customer or
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broker preferred, including via the Internet.   Nearly all of NAR’s member boards had also

adopted rules requiring all participants in their affiliated MLSs to submit, with minor exceptions,

all of their clients’ listings to the MLS.  More importantly, NAR did not permit any broker to

withhold his or her clients’ listings from a rival.

33. In several of the markets in which NAR’s member boards have implemented the

VOW Policy, brokers have already exercised their opt-out rights to withhold their clients’

listings from the customers of brokers operating VOWs, as well as from brokers who will use

password-protected websites to provide listings to their customers in the future.  In at least one

such instance, an innovative broker discontinued operation of his website because all of his

competitor brokers had opted out, making him unable to effectively serve his customers through

operation of his site.

34. Section II.4.g of the VOW Policy contains an “anti-referral” provision that, with

minor exceptions, forbids VOW operators from referring their customers to “any other entity”

for a fee.  In contrast, no NAR rule limits referrals for a fee by brokers who do not convey MLS

listings to customers over the Internet.

35. The VOW Policy includes other provisions that impose greater restrictions and

limitations on brokers with Internet-based business models than on traditional brokers.  For

example, under section IV.1.b of the VOW Policy, NAR’s member boards may forbid VOW

operators from displaying advertising on any website on which MLS listings information is

displayed.  In contrast, no NAR rule limits the ability of traditional brokers to include

advertisements in packages of printed listings they provide to their customers.
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36. The VOW Policy also contains provisions to make it obligatory and enforceable. 

Section I.4 of the VOW Policy expressly forbids NAR’s member boards from adopting rules

“more or less restrictive than, or otherwise inconsistent with” the VOW Policy, including the

opt-out provisions and the anti-referral provision.  Appendix A to the VOW Policy provides for

remedies and sanctions for violation of the Policy, including financial penalties and termination

of MLS privileges.

37. The VOW Policy thus prevents brokers from guaranteeing customers access

through the Internet to all relevant listing information, increases the business risk and other costs

associated with operating an efficient, Internet-intensive brokerage, denies brokers a source of

high-quality referrals, and withholds from Internet brokers revenue streams permitted to other

participants in the MLS.  Moreover, the opt-out provisions provide brokers an effective tool to

individually or collectively punish aggressive competition by any Internet-based broker.

38. NAR has informed plaintiff of its intention to replace the VOW Policy with a new

“Internet Listings Display Policy” and to make restrictive membership rules changes.  NAR’s

revised policies continue to discriminate against brokers who use the Internet to more efficiently

and cost effectively serve home sellers and buyers.

39. Unless permanently restrained and enjoined, defendant will continue to engage in

conduct that restricts competition from innovative brokers in violation of Section 1 of the

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.   
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VIOLATION ALLEGED

40. NAR’s adoption of the above-referenced provisions in its VOW Policy, or

equivalent provisions, constitutes a contract, combination, or conspiracy by and between NAR

and its members which unreasonably restrains competition in brokerage service markets

throughout the United States in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.

41. The aforesaid contract, combination, or conspiracy has had and will continue to

have anticompetitive effects in the relevant markets, including:

a. suppressing technological innovation;

b. reducing competition on price and quality;

c.  restricting efficient cooperation among brokers;

d.  making express or tacit collusion more likely; and  

e. raising barriers to entry.

42. This contract, combination, or conspiracy is not reasonably necessary to

accomplish any procompetitive objective, or, alternatively, its scope is broader than necessary to

accomplish any such objective.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that final judgment be entered against defendant

declaring, ordering, and adjudging:

a. that the aforesaid contract, combination, or conspiracy unreasonably

restrains trade and is illegal under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1;
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b. that the defendant be restrained and enjoined from requiring or permitting

its member boards or the MLSs with which they are affiliated to adopt rules

implementing the opt-out provisions;

c. that the defendant be restrained and enjoined from requiring or permitting

its member boards or the MLSs with which they are affiliated to adopt rules

implementing the anti-referral provision;

d. that the defendant be restrained and enjoined from requiring or permitting

its member boards or the MLSs with which they are affiliated to adopt rules that

restrict – or condition MLS access or MLS participation rights on – the method by

which a broker interacts with his or her customers, competitor brokers, or other

persons or entities;

e. that the Court grant such other relief as the United States may request and 

the Court deems just and proper; and 

f. that the United States recover its costs in this action.
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Dated:  September 7, 2005

_________/s/________________ _________/s/________________
J. BRUCE McDONALD DAVID C. KULLY
Deputy Assistant Attorney General ROBERT P. FAULKNER

CRAIG W. CONRATH
MARY BETH McGEE
ALLEN P. GRUNES

________/s/_________________ LISA A. SCANLON
J. ROBERT KRAMER II OWEN M. KENDLER
Director of Operations

Attorneys for the United States
Department of Justice
Antitrust Division

_______/s/__________________ 325 Seventh Street, N.W., Suite 300
JOHN R. READ, Chief Washington, DC 20530
NINA HALE, Assistant Chief Telephone:  (202) 205-9969
Litigation III Facsimile:  (202) 307-9952

_____   _/s/_________________
PATRICK J. FITZGERALD
United States Attorney
Northern District of Illinois
by Linda Wawzenski
Assistant United States Attorney
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